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Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com>

Notice of Withdrawal as Counsel

Brett Gibbs <blgibbs@wefightpiracy.com> Tue, Jan 29, 2013 at 5:56 PM
To: "Morgan E. Pietz" <mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com>

Mr. Pietz:

Please be on notice, I will be entering my notice of withdrawal as counsel of record for Ingenuity13 and AF
Holdings in all cases filed in California.  Mr. Paul Duffy will be substituting in as counsel.

Regards,

--
Brett L. Gibbs, Esq. (SBN 251000)
Of Counsel to Prenda Law Inc.
38 Miller Avenue, #263
Mill Valley, CA 94941
415-325-5900
blgibbs@wefightpiracy.com

NOTICE: THIS EMAIL IS INTENDED TO BE PART OF A SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATION AND IS NOT
ADMISSIBLE UNDER FRE RULE 408.

NOTICE:
This communication is covered by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, found at 18 U.S.C. 2510 et. seq. and is
intended to remain confidential and is subject to applicable attorney/client and/or work product privileges.  If you are not
the intended recipient of this message, or if this message has been addressed to you in error, please immediately alert the
sender by reply e-mail and then delete this message and all attachments.  Do not deliver, distribute or copy this message
and/or any attachments and if you are not the intended recipient, do not disclose the contents or take any action in reliance
upon the information contained in this communication or any attachments.

Circular 230 Disclosure: Pursuant to recently-enacted U.S. Treasury Department regulations, we are now required to advise
you that, unless otherwise expressly indicated, any federal tax advice contained in this communication, including attachments
and enclosures, is not intended or written to be used, and may not be used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding tax-related
penalties under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, marketing or recommending to another party any tax-related
matters addressed herein.
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Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com>

Activity in Case 2:12-cv-08333-ODW-JC Ingenuity13 LLC v. John Doe Order

Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com> Fri, Feb 8, 2013 at 11:36 AM
To: Prenda <paduffy@wefightpiracy.com>
Cc: "Morgan E. Pietz" <mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com>, Brett Gibbs <blgibbs@wefightpiracy.com>

No luck reaching you.

Please send me your part of the joint letter on the PO issue in N.D. Cal. No. 12-4976 by close of business
today.  This nonsense has gone on long enough.  Note that you do NOT have my permission to simply file the
letter.  You and Brett have now wasted so much time that circumstances have changed and I need to update
my part.

I am tied up in Court the rest of the day.  Have a nice weekend.

Best regards,
Mirgan

Sent from my iPhone

On Feb 8, 2013, at 11:31 AM, Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com> wrote:

Paul I just tried that number and it went straight to a 'voicemailbox that has not been setup yet.'

I am going to try again two more times, right now.

Sent from my iPhone

On Feb 7, 2013, at 4:59 PM, Prenda <paduffy@wefightpiracy.com> wrote:

3128526136

On Feb 7, 2013, at 6:33 PM, Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com> wrote:

What number should I call?

On Thu, Feb 7, 2013 at 3:57 PM, Prenda <paduffy@wefightpiracy.com> wrote:
I am representing that I will participate in the conference call that you agreed to participate in
tomorrow. If there is something substantive you would like to talk about then I am all ears. Thanks. 
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On Feb 7, 2013, at 5:14 PM, Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com> wrote:

Paul,

Since you seem to have an aversion to reading, I'll make this short then: are you representing
that I should consider you as counsel of record in this case or not?

I do plan to speak with you tomorrow at 11:30, at the very least about some other cases, but
whether we will be covering this case depends on your answer to my question above.

Best regards,
Morgan

On Thu, Feb 7, 2013 at 3:12 PM, Prenda <paduffy@wefightpiracy.com> wrote:
I agreed to have a meet  and confer with you tomorrow. If you are canceling please let me
know and we can reschedule. Your email message (below) and your other messages are too
long for me to read but I am happy to talk directly with you about whatever you want. Thanks. 

On Feb 7, 2013, at 4:33 PM, Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com> wrote:

Brett and Paul,

I just noticed that the most recent email to me below appears to be from Paul Duffy not Brett
Gibbs, who I understand has recently moved on to be the purported 'in-house counsel' for
assorted Prenda-related entities.

With respect to the case identified in the subject line, Mr. Gibbs is still counsel of record,
and, as Mr. Gibbs himself correctly pointed out, no substitution has yet been filed making
Paul Duffy counsel of record in this matter.

Accordingly, Paul, if you would like to have a substantive discussion on this case, and the
impending threat of sanctions which neither you nor Brett have responded to, I must insist
that you enter some kind of appearance first.  However, I would indeed like to keep our
11:30 a.m. PST phone appointment tomorrow, as I have a number of other matters, where
you are properly counsel of record, which I would like to discuss with you.

I will send you separate emails about those other matters, so that we may have a more
productive conversation tomorrow.

As to this matter, please advise whether I should be speaking to Mr. Duffy, to Mr. Gibbs, or to
both/either of you?

Best regards,
Morgan

On Wed, Feb 6, 2013 at 6:46 AM, Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com> wrote:
Yes, at 11:30 PST.
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Sent from my iPhone

On Feb 6, 2013, at 3:05 AM, Prenda <paduffy@wefightpiracy.com> wrote:

Mr. Pietz - please let me know if you are free to meet and confer by telephone on
Friday, February 8 at 9:am or later your time. Thanks. 

On Jan 30, 2013, at 8:18 PM, "Morgan E. Pietz" <mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com> wrote:

Brett,

Since Mr. Duffy has not yet appeared in this case, and, as you correctly note, no
substitution has been filed, much less approved, then, you are quite right: you are
still counsel of record.  You know as well as I do that this matter is not concluded; the
Court has not yet approved your voluntary dismissal (the Copyright Report is not
what matters) and the minute order below, as well as my prior notice to you that I am
likely going to be seeking sanctions, clearly mean that litigation here is not quite over
yet.  As I am sure you know, a federal Court retains jurisdiction to consider sanctions,
even after a complaint has been dismissed.

Accordingly, I am going to reiterate my request, one final time, for a response to my
query of January 29, about whether you will be responding to the discovery on Alan
Cooper in which the Court has taken an interest.  Based on your most recent email, it
does seem clear you are the appropriate (indeed, only) attorney to which it is
appropriate to direct this question.

I am cc'ing Mr. Duffy, both as a courtesy, and in the hopes that if he does seek to
substitute in on your behalf, you and/or he can first answer my other questions below
to allow me to determine whether I would oppose such a request.

Best regards,
Morgan

On Wed, Jan 30, 2013 at 5:53 PM, Brett Gibbs <blgibbs@wefightpiracy.com> wrote:
Mr. Pietz:

This case has been dismissed, and recently closed by the Court.  Please refer to
the Court's docket.

As for any questions regarding Mr. Duffy, you can contact him yourself if you
desire.

As for your statement directed at me, please note that there was no substitution of
counsel form filed in the above-referenced case.

It was a pleasure working with you.  Good luck in your future endeavors.
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Regards,

Brett Gibbs

On Wed, Jan 30, 2013 at 4:29 PM, Morgan E. Pietz <mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com>
wrote:

Brett,

I am in receipt of your email of yesterday night informing me that you plan on
attempting to withdraw from this action, as well as the other AF Holdings and
Ingenuity 13 actions in California, and that you hope that Mr. Paul Duffy will be
allowed to substitute in on your behalf in these cases.

With respect to whether I will object to the proposed substitution in this case,
could you please clarify a few things for me:

(1) It is almost now close of business, and I still have not heard back from you
with respect to my query below.  Have you forwarded my query to Mr. Duffy, and
from whom, if anyone, should I expect a substantive response?

(2) I note that both on the California State Bar website, and in and recent filings
made by Mr. Duffy in the Northern District of California yesterday and today, Mr.
Duffy lists different addresses, both of which are located in Chicago, IL. I also
note that a couple months ago, Mr. Duffy wrote Judge Scriven in Florida to
explain that he could not travel by air to a hearing she had ordered him to
appear at, due to eye surgery.  Is Mr. Duffy able to travel by air now, such that
he could be available to appear in California?

(3) I note that on both the State Bar website, and in Mr. Duffy's recent
appearances in other cases, Mr. Duffy's affiliation is listed as something other
than Prenda Law, Inc.  My understanding was that Mr. Duffy was the "sole
principal" of Prenda Law, Inc. and that you were "of counsel" to that firm.  Has
the firm been disbanded? 

(4) Finally, I understand from other filings that you will now become "in house
counsel" for AF Holdings.  Is that correct?  What about Ingenuity 13, are you
now also "in house counsel" for Ingenuity 13, LLC.

Please get back to me on these issues so that I can determine whether I will
oppose the proposed substitution.

Best regards,
Morgan

On Tue, Jan 29, 2013 at 2:19 PM, Morgan E. Pietz <mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com>
wrote:

Brett,
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I view your attempt to dodge the Alan Cooper discovery, by unilaterally
dismissing the case without prejudice, as the coup de grâce in a series of bad
faith actions in this case.  Please be advised, I will likely be seeking sanctions.

In view of the Court's order of earlier today, below, please advise whether you
will be responding to the outstanding written discovery on Alan Cooper.  If you
actually respond with properly verified, substantive answers, and produce the
documents demanded to my office, by the original deadline of Monday 2/4/13,
by 5:00 P.M., I will consider refraining from seeking sanctions (depending on
your responses).

Please advise by close of business tomorrow (1/30) whether you will be
responding to the discovery by Monday (2/4).

Best regards,
Morgan

---------- Forwarded message ----------
From: <cacd_ecfmail@cacd.uscourts.gov>
Date: Tue, Jan 29, 2013 at 11:19 AM
Subject: Activity in Case 2:12-cv-08333-ODW-JC Ingenuity13 LLC v. John
Doe Order
To: ecfnef@cacd.uscourts.gov

This is an automatic e-mail message generated by the CM/ECF system.
Please DO NOT RESPOND to this e-mail because the mail box is
unattended.
***NOTE TO PUBLIC ACCESS USERS*** Judicial Conference of the
United States policy permits attorneys of record and parties in a case
(including pro se litigants) to receive one free electronic copy of all
documents filed electronically, if receipt is required by law or directed
by the filer. PACER access fees apply to all other users. To avoid later
charges, download a copy of each document during this first viewing.
However, if the referenced document is a transcript, the free copy and
30 page limit do not apply.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT for the CENTRAL DISTRICT OF
CALIFORNIA

Notice of Electronic Filing

The following transaction was entered on 1/29/2013 at 11:18 AM PST and
filed on 1/28/2013
Case Name: Ingenuity13 LLC v. John Doe

Case Number: 2:12-cv-08333-ODW-JC

Filer:
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Document Number: 45

Docket Text:

ORDER RE STATUS CONFERENCE by Judge Otis D.
Wright, II: The parties to jointly prepare a status report,
briefly indicating whether this early discovery was
propounded and whether an answer was given in
response. This status report must be filed by February 19,
2013. In addition, the parties are hereby ORDERED to
appear for a status conference on March 4, 2013, at 1:30
p.m., to discuss the status of this early discovery.If the
parties indicate in their status report that the early
discovery has been properly propounded and answered,
the Court will vacate the March 4, 2013 status conference.
Failure to comply with this order or failure to appear for
the scheduled status conference may result in sanctions,
including monetary sanctions.(lc)

2:12-cv-08333-ODW-JC Notice has been electronically mailed to:

Morgan E Pietz     mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com, lrudolph@pietzlawfirm.com  

Brett Langdon Gibbs     docket@wefightpiracy.com,
blgibbs@wefightpiracy.com  

2:12-cv-08333-ODW-JC Notice has been delivered by First Class U. S.
Mail or by other means BY THE FILER to :

--

Morgan E. Pietz
THE PIETZ LAW FIRM
3770 Highland Ave., Ste. 206
Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com
Ph: (310) 424-5557
Fx: (310) 546-5301
www.pietzlawfirm.com

--

Morgan E. Pietz
THE PIETZ LAW FIRM
3770 Highland Ave., Ste. 206
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Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com
Ph: (310) 424-5557
Fx: (310) 546-5301
www.pietzlawfirm.com

--
Brett L. Gibbs, Esq. (SBN 251000)
Of Counsel to Prenda Law Inc.
38 Miller Avenue, #263
Mill Valley, CA 94941
415-325-5900
blgibbs@wefightpiracy.com

NOTICE: THIS EMAIL IS INTENDED TO BE PART OF A SETTLEMENT
NEGOTIATION AND IS NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER FRE RULE 408.

NOTICE:
This communication is covered by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, found at 18
U.S.C. 2510 et. seq. and is intended to remain confidential and is subject to applicable
attorney/client and/or work product privileges.  If you are not the intended recipient of this
message, or if this message has been addressed to you in error, please immediately alert the
sender by reply e-mail and then delete this message and all attachments.  Do not deliver,
distribute or copy this message and/or any attachments and if you are not the intended
recipient, do not disclose the contents or take any action in reliance upon the information
contained in this communication or any attachments.

Circular 230 Disclosure: Pursuant to recently-enacted U.S. Treasury Department regulations,
we are now required to advise you that, unless otherwise expressly indicated, any federal tax
advice contained in this communication, including attachments and enclosures, is not intended
or written to be used, and may not be used, for the purpose of (i) avoiding tax-related penalties
under the Internal Revenue Code or (ii) promoting, marketing or recommending to another
party any tax-related matters addressed herein.

--

Morgan E. Pietz
THE PIETZ LAW FIRM
3770 Highland Ave., Ste. 206
Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com
Ph: (310) 424-5557
Fx: (310) 546-5301
www.pietzlawfirm.com
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Brett L. Gibbs, Esq. (SBN 251000) 
Of Counsel to Prenda Law Inc. 
38 Miller Avenue, #263 
Mill Valley, CA 94941 
415-325-5900 
blgibbs@wefightpiracy.com 
 
A ttorney for Plaintiff 

 
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

 
 
 
AF HOLDINGS LLC,   ) No. 3:12-cv-02396 EMC  

) 
Plaintiff,   ) ADR CERTIFICATION BY PARTIES  

v.     ) AND COUNSEL 
)  

JOHN DOE,     ) 
      ) 

Defendant.   ) 
) 

____________________________________) 
 

 
ADR CERTIFICATION BY PARTIES AND COUNSEL 

 
 

 Pursuant to Civil L.R. 16-8(b) and ADR L.R. 3-5(b), each of the undersigned certifies that he 

or she has: 

(1) Read the handbook entitled “Dispute Resolution Procedures in the Northern District of 
California” on the Court’s ADR Internet site www.adr.cand.uscourts.gov (Limited 
printed copies are available from the clerk’s office for parties in cases not subject to the 
court’s Electronic Case Filing program (ECF) under General Order 45); 

(2) Discussed the available dispute options provided by the Court and private entities; and  
(3) Considered whether this case might benefit from any available dispute resolution options.

       
 
Dated: July 20, 2012     __/s/ Salt Marsh, AF Holdings Owner_______  
         PARTY 
 
 
Dated: July 20, 2012     ___/s/_Brett L. Gibbs, Esq.,_Trial Counsel____ 
         COUNSEL 
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Nicholas Ranallo, Attorney at Law #275016 
371 Dogwood Way 
Boulder Creek, CA 95006 
Telephone No.: (831) 703 - 4011 
Fax No.: (831) 533-5073 
Email: nick@ranallolawoffice.com 
Attorney for Defendant Joe Navasca 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

AF HOLDINGS, LLC., 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
JOE NAVASCA 
 
 
 Defendants. 
 

 Case No. 3:12-cv-02396-EMC 
 
 
Declaration of Nicholas Ranallo in 
Opposition to Motion to Shorten 
Time/Motion for Stay of Discovery 
 

 

DECLARATION OF NICHOLAS RANALLO 

1. I am an attorney duly licensed to practice in the State of California and before the 

District Court for the Northern District of California.  I am attorney of record for 

Joe Navasca, and this declaration is based on personal knowledge of the matters 

set forth herein or, to the extent so identified, upon information and belief formed 

after reasonable inquiry as described herein.   

2. On Friday, February 8, 2013, I received an electronic file from Joe Navasca 

comprised of a voicemail recording left at his residence on the same date.  
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Paragraph 5, below, represents my personal transcription of the voicemail 

message.  I have retained an electronic copy of the message and can provide it to 

the court upon request. 

3. Upon information and belief, the individual speaking in the voicemail message is 

Mark Lutz.  This belief is based on my recognition of Mr. Lutz’ voice from 

numerous past conversations with Mr. Lutz in his role as paralegal for Steele 

Hansmeier/Prenda Law.   

4. On Friday, February 8, 2013, I sent a copy of the voicemail to Brett Gibbs 

requesting explanation.  Beyond noting that I did not represent Jovino, Mr. Gibbs 

provided no information regarding why a law firm that is not formally involved in 

this case is seeking settlement from an individual that is not the defendant in this 

case, and/or seeking to amend the complaint to name an individual that was 

previously “eliminated” as a likely infringer. 

5. The following represents my personal transcription of the February 8 voicemail.  I 

have endeavored to be as accurate as possible: 

 “Yes, uh, this message is for Jovino.  It’s, uh, Anti-Piracy Law Group giving you a 
call about a couple of letters we mailed you which had to do with the copyright 
infringement lawsuit that you are a part of.  And..um..yeah, I mean, we haven’t 
entered into a settlement agreement as of yet.  And, prior to moving forward and 
modifying the complaint to add your name, our client just asked us to give you a 
quick call.  You know, I suppose if you want to avoid the expense and time that is 
associated with a case like this, call us back.  We can be reached at (800) 380-
0840.  Your reference number is 84080.  Thank you.” 

 
6. The telephone number identified in the message above is the number listed for 

Prenda Law, Inc., on its wefightpiracy.com web site. 
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7. The reference number noted above corresponds to prior letters from Plaintiff 

regarding the allegations of infringement from this case. 

SALT MARSH 

8. “Salt Marsh” is the individual identified as an “Owner” of AF Holdings in ECF 

No. 8 in this case, as well as numerous other cases in this district.   

9. I am not aware of any individual with the actual name “Salt Marsh” that is 

associated with AF Holdings or John Steele. 

10. However, upon information and belief, an individual named Tony or Anthony 

Saltmarsh does exist, and has documented associations with John Steele’s family 

and the mysterious Alan Cooper, as described further herein. 

11. Upon information and belief, Tony Saltmarsh previously lived at 4532 E. Villa 

Theresa Drive in Phoenix Arizona, 85032.  This belief is based upon a “past 

address” search through peoplesmart.com. of the address and Mr. Saltmarsh.  A 

copy of Mr. Saltmarsh’s full report is annexed hereto as Exhibit B. 

12. Upon information and belief, Jayme Steele also previously lived at 4532 E. Villa 

Theresa Drive in Phoenix, Arizona.  This belief is likewise based on 

peoplesmart.com “past address” search for Ms. Steele.  A copy of this report is 

annexed hereto as Exhibit C. 

13. Upon information and belief, the 4532 E. Villa Theresa address was also 

previously used by VPR, Inc., a former Steele Hansmeier client.  This belief is 

based on a review of the Nevada Secretary of State entity details attached hereto as 

Exhibit D. 
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14. Upon information and belief, Alan Cooper was identified as, inter alia, the 

President and Treasurer of VPR, Inc. and likewise associated with the 4532 East 

Villa Theresa address.  This belief is likewise based on a review of the Nevada 

Secretary of State entity details, a copy of which are annexed hereto as Exhibit D.   

 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing is true and correct and that this Declaration is executed on this 11th day of 

February, 2013, in Boulder Creek, California. 

 

/s/  Nicholas R. Ranallo_________ 
Nicholas Ranallo 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 

INGENUITY 13 LLC,  
 
   Plaintiff, 
 v. 
 

JOHN DOE, 
 
   Defendant. 
 

Case Nos. 2:12-cv-8333-ODW(JCx) 
                  
ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE RE 
SANCTIONS FOR RULE 11 AND 
LOCAL RULE 83-3 VIOLATIONS 

 

The Court hereby orders Brett L. Gibbs, attorney of record for AF Holdings 

LLC and Ingenuity 13 LLC, to appear on March 11, 2013, at 1:30 p.m., to justify his 

violations of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11 and Local Rule 83-3 discussed 

herein.1 

A. Legal Standard 

The Court has a duty to supervise the conduct of attorneys appearing before it.  

Erickson v. Newmar Corp., 87 F.3d 298, 301 (9th Cir. 1996).  The power to punish 

contempt and to coerce compliance with issued orders is based on statutes and the 

Court’s inherent authority.  Int’l Union, United Mine Workers of Am. v. Bagwell, 512 
                                                           
1 The violations discussed herein were committed in the following related cases: AF Holdings LLC v. 
Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6636-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed Aug. 1, 2012); AF Holdings LLC v. Doe, No. 
2:12-cv-6669-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed Aug. 2, 2012); Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-
6662-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed Aug. 2, 2012); Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6668-
ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed Aug. 2, 2012); Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-8333-ODW(JCx) 
(C.D. Cal. filed Sept. 27, 2012).  To facilitate this matter, Mr. Gibbs will be given the opportunity to 
address these violations together in one hearing rather than in several separate hearings. 
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U.S. 821, 831 (1994).  And though this power must be exercised with restraint, the 

Court has wide latitude in fashioning appropriate sanctions to fit the conduct.  See 

Roadway Express, Inc. v. Piper, 447 U.S. 752, 764–65 (1980). 

B. Rule 11(b)(3) Violations 

By presenting a pleading to the Court, an attorney certifies that—after 

conducting a reasonable inquiry—the factual contentions in the pleading have 

evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, will likely have evidentiary 

support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery.  Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 11(b)(3).  This precomplaint duty to find supporting facts is “not satisfied by 

rumor or hunch.”  Bankers Trust Co. v. Old Republic Ins. Co., 959 F.2d 677, 683 (7th 

Cir. 1992).  The reasonableness of this inquiry is based on an objective standard, and 

subjective good faith provides no safe harbor.  Golden Eagle Distrib. Corp. v. 

Burroughs Corp., 801 F.2d 1531, 1538 (9th Cir. 1986); F.D.I.C. v. Calhoun, 34 F.3d 

1291, 1296 (5th Cir. 1994); Knipe v. Skinner, 19 F.3d 72, 75 (2d Cir. 1994).  The 

Court wields the discretion to impose sanctions designed to “deter repetition of the 

conduct or comparable conduct by others similarly situated.”  Fed R. Civ. P 11(c)(4). 

In Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6662-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed 

Aug. 2, 2012), the Court ordered Plaintiff on December 20, 2012, to show cause why 

it failed to timely serve the Defendant or, if the Defendant has already been served, to 

submit the proof of service.  (ECF No. 12.)  In response, Plaintiff noted that the delay 

was because it waited to receive a response from the subscriber of the IP address 

associated with the alleged act of infringement.  (ECF No. 14.)  Plaintiff further noted: 

“Though the subscriber, David Wagar, remained silent, Plaintiff’s investigation of his 

household established that Benjamin Wagar was the likely infringer of Plaintiff’s 

copyright.”  (ECF No. 14, at 2.)  Based on this investigation, Plaintiff filed an 

Amended Complaint, substituting Benjamin Wagar for John Doe.  (ECF No. 13.) 

Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint alleges the following in connection with 

Benjamin Wagar: 
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 “Defendant Benjamin Wagar (‘Defendant’) knowingly and illegally 

reproduced and distributed Plaintiff’s copyrighted Video by acting in 

concert with others via the BitTorrent file sharing protocol and, upon 

information and belief, continues to do the same.”  (AC ¶ 1); 

 “Defendant is an individual who, upon information and belief, is over the 

age of eighteen and resides in this District.”  (AC ¶ 4); 

 “Defendant was assigned the Internet Protocol (‘IP’) address of 

96.248.225.171 on 2012-06-28 at 07:19:47 (UTC).”  (AC ¶ 4); 

 “Defendant, using IP address 96.248.225.171, without Plaintiff’s 

authorization or license, intentionally downloaded a torrent file particular 

to Plaintiff’s Video, purposefully loaded that torrent file into his 

BitTorrent client—in this case, Azureus 4.7.0.2—entered a BitTorrent 

swarm particular to Plaintiff’s Video, and reproduced and distributed the 

Video to numerous third parties.”  (AC ¶ 22); 

 “Plaintiff’s investigators detected Defendant’s illegal download on 2012-

06-28 at 07:19:47 (UTC).  However, this is a [sic] simply a snapshot 

observation of when the IP address was observed in the BitTorrent 

swarm; the conduct took itself [sic] place before and after this date and 

time.”  (AC ¶ 23); 

 “The unique hash value in this case is identified as 

F016490BD8E60E184EC5B7052CEB1FA570A4AF11.”  (AC ¶ 24.) 

In a different case, Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6668-ODW(JCx) 

(C.D. Cal. filed Aug. 2, 2012), Plaintiff essentially makes the same response to the 

Court’s December 20, 2012 Order To Show Cause (ECF No. 12): “Though the 

subscriber, Marvin Denton, remained silent, Plaintiff’s investigation of his household 

established that Mayon Denton was the likely infringer of Plaintiff’s copyright.”  

(ECF No. 13, at 2.)  And based on this information, Plaintiff filed an Amended 

Complaint (ECF No. 16), similar in all respects to the one filed against Benjamin 
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Wagar in Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6662-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed 

Aug. 2, 2012), with the following technical exceptions: 

 “Defendant was assigned the Internet Protocol (‘IP’) address of 75.128.55.44 

on 2012-07-04 at 07:51:30 (UTC).”  (AC ¶ 4); 

 “Defendant . . . purposefully loaded that torrent file into his BitTorrent 

client—in this case, μTorrent 3.1.3 . . . .”  (AC ¶ 22); 

 “The unique hash value in this case is identified as 

0D47A7A035591B0BA4FA5CB86AFE986885F5E18E.”  (AC ¶ 24.) 

Upon review of these allegations, the Court finds two glaring problems that 

Plaintiff’s technical cloak fails to mask.  Both of these are obvious to an objective 

observer having a working understanding of the underlying technology. 

1. Lack of reasonable investigation of copyright infringement activity 

 The first problem is how Plaintiff concluded that the Defendants actually 

downloaded the entire copyrighted video, when all Plaintiff has as evidence is a 

“snapshot observation.”  (AC ¶ 23.)  This snapshot allegedly shows that the 

Defendants were downloading the copyrighted work—at least at that moment in time.  

But downloading a large file like a video takes time; and depending on a user’s 

Internet-connection speed, it may take a long time.  In fact, it may take so long that the 

user may have terminated the download.  The user may have also terminated the 

download for other reasons.  To allege copyright infringement based on an IP 

snapshot is akin to alleging theft based on a single surveillance camera shot: a photo 

of a child reaching for candy from a display does not automatically mean he stole it.  

No Court would allow a lawsuit to be filed based on that amount of evidence. 

What is more, downloading data via the Bittorrent protocol is not like stealing 

candy.  Stealing a piece of a chocolate bar, however small, is still theft; but copying an 

encrypted, unusable piece of a video file via the Bittorrent protocol may not be 

copyright infringement.  In the former case, some chocolate was taken; in the latter 

case, an encrypted, unusable chunk of zeroes and ones.  And as part of its prima facie 
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copyright claim, Plaintiff must show that Defendants copied the copyrighted work.  

Feist Publ’ns, Inc. v. Rural Tel. Serv. Co., 499 U.S. 340, 361 (1991).  If a download 

was not completed, Plaintiff’s lawsuit may be deemed frivolous. 

In this case, Plaintiff’s reliance on snapshot evidence to establish its copyright 

infringement claims is misplaced.  A reasonable investigation should include evidence 

showing that Defendants downloaded the entire copyrighted work—or at least a 

usable portion of a copyrighted work.  Plaintiff has none of this—no evidence that 

Defendants completed their download, and no evidence that what they downloaded is 

a substantially similar copy of the copyrighted work.  Thus, Plaintiff’s attorney 

violated Rule 11(b)(3) for filing a pleading that lacks factual foundation. 

2. Lack of reasonable investigation of actual infringer’s identity 

The second problem is more troublesome.  Here, Plaintiff concluded that 

Benjamin Wagar is the person who illegally downloaded the copyrighted video.  But 

Plaintiff fails to allege facts in the Amended Complaint to show how Benjamin Wagar 

is the infringer, other than noting his IP address, the name of his Bittorrent client, and 

the alleged time of download.2  Plaintiff’s December 27, 2012 Response to the Court’s 

Order to Show Cause re Lack of Service sheds some light: 

Though the subscriber, David Wagar, remained silent, Plaintiff’s 
investigation of his household established that Benjamin Wagar was the 
likely infringer of Plaintiff’s copyright.  As such, Plaintiff mailed its 
Amended Complaint to the Court naming Benjamin Wagar as the 
Defendant in this action.  (ECF No. 14, at 2.) 

The disconnect is how Plaintiff arrived at this conclusion—that the actual infringer is 

a member of the subscriber’s household (and not the subscriber himself or anyone 

else)—when all it had was an IP address, the name of the Bittorrent client used, the 

alleged time of download, and an unresponsive subscriber. 

                                                           
2 This analysis similarly applies in Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6668-ODW(JCx) (C.D. 
Cal. filed Aug. 2, 2012), where Plaintiff fails to allege sufficient facts to show how Mayon Denton is 
the infringer. 
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Plaintiff’s December 27, 2012 Discovery Status Report gives additional insight 

into Plaintiff’s deductive process: 

In cases where the subscriber remains silent, Plaintiff conducts 
investigations to determine the likelihood that the subscriber, or someone 
in his or her household, was the actual infringer. . . . For example, if the 
subscriber is 75 years old, or the subscriber is female, it is statistically 
quite unlikely that the subscriber was the infringer.  In such cases, 
Plaintiff performs an investigation into the subscriber’s household to 
determine if there is a likely infringer of Plaintiff’s copyright. . . .  
Plaintiff bases its choices regarding whom to name as the infringer on 
factual analysis.  (ECF No. 15, at 24.) 

The Court interprets this to mean: if the subscriber is 75 years old or female, then 

Plaintiff looks to see if there is a pubescent male in the house; and if so, he is named 

as the defendant.  Plaintiff’s “factual analysis” cannot be characterized as anything 

more than a hunch. 

Other than invoking undocumented statistics, Plaintiff provides nothing to 

indicate that Benjamin Wagar is the infringer.  While it is plausible that Benjamin 

Wagar is the infringer, Plaintiff’s deduction falls short of the reasonableness standard 

required by Rule 11. 

For instance, Plaintiff cannot show that Benjamin is the infringer instead of 

someone else, such as: David Wagar; other members of the household; family guests; 

or, the next door neighbor who may be leeching from the Wagars’ Internet access.  

Thus, Plaintiff acted recklessly by naming Benjamin Wagar as the infringer based on 

its haphazard and incomplete investigation. 

Further, the Court is not convinced that there is no solution to the problem of 

identifying the actual infringer.  Here, since Plaintiff has the identity of the subscriber, 

Plaintiff can find the subscriber’s home address and determine (by driving up and 

scanning the airwaves) whether the subscriber, (1) has Wi-Fi, and (2) has password-

protected his Wi-Fi access, thereby reducing the likelihood that an unauthorized user 

outside the subscriber’s home is the infringer.  In addition, since Plaintiff is tracking a 
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number of related copyrighted videos, Plaintiff can compile its tracking data to 

determine whether other copyrighted videos were downloaded under the same IP 

address.  This may suggest that the infringer is likely a resident of the subscriber’s 

home and not a guest.  And an old-fashioned stakeout may be in order: the presence of 

persons within the subscriber’s home may be correlated with tracking data—the 

determination of who would have been in the subscriber’s home when the download 

was initiated may assist in discovering the actual infringer. 

Such an investigation may not be perfect, but it narrows down the possible 

infringers and is better than the Plaintiff’s current investigation, which the Court finds 

involves nothing more than blindly picking a male resident from a subscriber’s home.  

But this type of investigation requires time and effort, something that would destroy 

Plaintiff’s business model. 

The Court has previously expressed concern that in pornographic copyright 

infringement lawsuits like these, the economics of the situation makes it highly likely 

for the accused to immediately pay a settlement demand.  Even for the innocent, a 

four-digit settlement makes economic sense over fighting the lawsuit in court—not to 

mention the benefits of preventing public disclosure (by being named in a lawsuit) of 

allegedly downloading pornographic videos. 

And copyright lawsuits brought by private parties for damages are different 

than criminal investigations of cybercrimes, which sometimes require identification of 

an individual through an IP address.  In these criminal investigations, a court has some 

guarantee from law enforcement that they will bring a case only when they actually 

have a case and have confidently identified a suspect.  In civil lawsuits, no such 

guarantees are given.  So, when viewed with a court’s duty to serve the public interest, 

a plaintiff cannot be given free rein to sue anyone they wish—the plaintiff has to 

actually show facts supporting its allegations. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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C. Local Rule 83-3 Violations 

Under Local Rule 83-3, the Court possesses the power to sanction attorney 

misconduct, including: disposing of the matter; referring the matter to the Standing 

Committee on Discipline; or taking “any action the Court deems appropriate.”  

L.R. 83-3.1.  This includes the power to fine and imprison for contempt of the Court’s 

authority, for: (1) misbehavior of any person in its presence or so near thereto as to 

obstruct the administration of justice; (2) misbehavior of any of its officers in their 

official transactions; or, (3) disobedience or resistance to its lawful writ, process, 

order, rule, decree, or command.  18 U.S.C. § 401. 

The Court is concerned with three instances of attorney misconduct.  The first 

and second instances are related and concern violating the Court’s discovery order.  

The third instance concerns possible fraud upon the Court. 

1. Failure to comply with the Court’s discovery order 

In AF Holdings LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6636-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed 

Aug. 1, 2012) and AF Holdings LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6669-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. 

filed Aug. 2, 2012), the Court ordered Plaintiff to “cease its discovery efforts relating 

to or based on information obtained through any abovementioned Rule 45 

subpoenas.”  (ECF No. 13, at 1; ECF No. 10, at 1.)  Further, Plaintiff was required to 

name all persons that were identified through any Rule 45 subpoenas.  (Id.) 

Plaintiff responded on November 1, 2012, and indicated that it did not obtain 

any information about the subscribers in both of these cases.  (ECF No. 10, at 6–7, 

10.)3  But in response to the Court’s subsequent Orders to Show Cause, Plaintiff not 

only named the subscribers, but recounted its efforts to contact the subscriber and find 

additional information.  (ECF No. 15; ECF No. 18.) 

This conduct contravenes the Court’s order to cease discovery.  Plaintiff has 

provided no justification why it ignored the Court’s order. 

                                                           
3 This response was filed in AF Holdings LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-5709-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed 
July 2, 2012). 
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2. Fraud on the Court 

Upon review of papers filed by attorney Morgan E. Pietz, the Court perceives 

that Plaintiff may have defrauded the Court.  (ECF No. 23.)4  At the center of this 

issue is the identity of a person named Alan Cooper and the validity of the underlying 

copyright assignments.5  If it is true that Alan Cooper’s identity was misappropriated 

and the underlying copyright assignments were improperly executed using his 

identity, then Plaintiff faces a few problems. 

First, with an invalid assignment, Plaintiff has no standing in these cases.  

Second, by bringing these cases, Plaintiff’s conduct can be considered vexatious, as 

these cases were filed for a facially improper purpose.  And third, the Court will not 

idle while Plaintiff defrauds this institution. 

D. Conclusion 

Accordingly, the Court hereby ORDERS Brett L. Gibbs, TO SHOW CAUSE 

why he should not be sanctioned for the following: 

 In AF Holdings LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6636-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. 

filed Aug. 1, 2012), violating the Court’s October 19, 2012 Order 

instructing AF Holdings to cease its discovery efforts based on 

information obtained through any earlier-issued subpoenas; 

 In AF Holdings LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6669-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. 

filed Aug. 2, 2012), violating the Court’s October 19, 2012 Order 

instructing AF Holdings to cease its discovery efforts based on 

information obtained through any earlier-issued subpoenas; 

/ / / 

                                                           
4 Although the papers revealing this possible fraud were filed in Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-
cv-8333-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed Sept. 27, 2012), this fraud, if true, was likely committed by 
Plaintiff in each of its cases before this Court. 
5 For example, in AF Holdings LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6669-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. filed Aug. 2, 
2012), Plaintiff filed a copyright assignment signed by Alan Cooper on behalf of Plaintiffs.  (ECF 
No. 16-1.) 
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 In Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6662-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. 

filed Aug. 2, 2012), violating Rule 11(b)(2) by: 

o alleging copyright infringement based on a snapshot of Internet 

activity, without conducting a reasonable inquiry; or, 

o alleging that Benjamin Wagar is the infringer, without conducting 

a reasonable inquiry; 

 In Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-6668-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. 

filed Aug. 2, 2012), violating Rule 11(b)(2) by: 

o alleging copyright infringement based on a snapshot of Internet 

activity, without conducting a reasonable inquiry; or, 

o alleging that Mayon Denton is the infringer, without conducting a 

reasonable inquiry; 

 In Ingenuity 13 LLC v. Doe, No. 2:12-cv-8333-ODW(JCx) (C.D. Cal. 

filed Sept. 27, 2012), perpetrating fraud on the Court by 

misappropriating the identity of Alan Cooper and filing lawsuits based 

on an invalid copyright assignment. 

This order to show cause is scheduled for hearing on March 11, 2013, at 1:30 

p.m., to provide Mr. Gibbs the opportunity to justify his conduct.  Based on the 

unusual circumstances of this case, the Court invites Morgan E. Pietz to present 

evidence concerning the conduct outlined in this order.  The Court declines to sanction 

Plaintiffs AF Holdings LLC and Ingenuity 13 LLC at this time for two reasons: 

(1) Mr. Gibbs appears to be closely related to or have a fiduciary interest in Plaintiffs; 

and; (2) it is likely Plaintiffs are devoid of assets. 

If Mr. Gibbs or Mr. Pietz so desire, they each may file by February 19, 2013, a 

brief discussing this matter.  The Court will also welcome the appearance of Alan 

Cooper—to either confirm or refute the fraud allegations. 

Based on the evidence presented at the March 11, 2013 hearing, the Court will 

consider whether sanctions are appropriate, and if so, determine the proper 
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punishment.  This may include a monetary fine, incarceration, or other sanctions 

sufficient to deter future misconduct.  Failure by Mr. Gibbs to appear will result in the 

automatic imposition of sanctions along with the immediate issuance of a bench 

warrant for contempt. 

 IT IS SO ORDERED. 

February 7, 2012 

 

        ____________________________________ 
                 OTIS D. WRIGHT, II 
            UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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Name Tony Saltmarsh

Age 28

Date of Birth 1/17/1985

Phone Number N/A

Additional Phone

Numbers

603-224-4510, 601-848-5514

Most Recent Address 314 W Monte Cristo Ave, Phoenix, AZ 85023-7420

Aliases/Name

Variations

Anthony J Saltmarsh

Address City, State, Zip Phone Added Updated

Contact Report
Tony Saltmarsh

Email:

b****@comcast.net

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Road

Bow, NH 03304

b****@attbi.com

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Road

Bow, NH 03304

b****@aol.com

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Road

Bow, NH 03304

b****@attbi.com

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Road

Bow, NH 03304

b****@attbi.com

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Road

Bow, NH 03304

601-848-5514

b****@comcast.net

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Rd

Bow, NH 03304-3902

b****@attb1.com

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Rd

Bow, NH 03304-3902

b****@geocities.com

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Rd

Bow, NH 03304-3902

t****@msn.com

Tony Saltmarsh

122 Bow Bog Rd

Bow, NH 03304-3902

 

4 addresses were found

Report Expiration

July 30, 2013
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314 W Monte Cristo Ave   Phoenix, AZ 85023-7420     7/2011  7/2011 

4532 E Villa Theresa Dr   Phoenix, AZ 85032-1554     4/2009  4/2009 

17212 N Scottsdale Rd, Apt

2312  

Scottsdale, AZ 85255-9615     2/2007  9/2007 

122 Bow Bog Rd   Bow, NH 03304-3902   603-224-4510     2007 

Possible Relatives

Possible relatives are people who are likely relatives of Tony Saltmarsh based on matching surname and shared addresses.

Please note that this will not include all relatives.

5 possible relatives were found

Aaron A Saltmarsh

Alexander W Saltmarsh

Brandy Eileen Saltmarsh

Davis

Stephanie L Edwards

Name Age Address
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Name Jayme C Steele

Age 35

Date of Birth 3/30/1977

Phone Number 320-592-0011

Additional Phone

Numbers

702-223-5209, 952-903-5343

Most Recent Address 314 W Monte Cristo Ave, Phoenix, AZ 85023-7420

Aliases/Name

Variations

Jamey Steele

Address City, State, Zip Phone

Added Updated

314 W Monte Cristo Ave   Phoenix, AZ 85023-7420    

7/2011  7/2011 

21251 220th St   Mc Grath, MN 56350-4117   320-592-0011  

6/2005  11/2006 

3743 Irvington Ave   Miami, FL 33133-6105    

2/2000  12/2005 

7641 128th St W   Saint Paul, MN 55124-9767    

  12/1995 

21468 E Bonanza Way   Queen Creek, AZ 85142-3291    

   

21067 220th St   Mc Grath, MN 56350-4019   320-592-0011  

   

4532 E Villa Theresa Dr   Phoenix, AZ 85032-1554    

   

Contact Report
Jayme C Steele

14 addresses were found

Report Expiration

July 30, 2013
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4404 Sandhorse Ct   Las Vegas, NV 89130-5212   702-223-5209  

   

222 Zamora Ave, Apt 7   Coral Gables, FL 33134-3930    

   

7511 Bristol Village Dr   Minneapolis, MN 55438-2562   952-903-5343  

   

3160 Florida Ave   Miami, FL 33133-5113    

   

824 Jefferson Ave   Miami Beach, FL 33139-5632    

   

5533 Lagorce Dr   Miami Beach, FL 33140-2137    

   

Possible Relatives

Possible relatives are people who are likely relatives of Jayme C Steele based on matching surname and shared

addresses. Please note that this will not include all relatives.

4 possible relatives were found

Deborah A Steele

Elizabeth N Steele

John Lawrence Steele Jr

John L J Steel

Name Age Address
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2/3/13 Entity Details - Secretary of State, Nevada

nvsos.gov/sosentitysearch/PrintCorp.aspx?lx8nvq=o9wAXpS7zKVXcR8o3VnvEA%253d%253d 1/2

VPR INC.

 Business Entity Information

Status:  Default File Date:  11/9/2010

Type:  Domestic Corporation Entity Number:  E0540532010-2

Qualifying State:  NV List of Officers Due:  11/30/2012

Managed By:  Expiration Date:  

NV Business ID:  NV20101804310
Business License

Exp: 
 11/30/2012

 Registered Agent Information

Name:  SPIEGEL & UTRERA, P.A. Address 1: 
 1785 EAST SAHARA

AVENUE, SUITE 490

Address 2:  City:  LAS VEGAS

State:  NV Zip Code:  89104

Phone:  Fax:  

Mailing Address 1:  Mailing Address 2:  

Mailing City:  Mailing State:  

Mailing Zip Code:    

Agent Type:  Noncommercial Registered Agent

 Financial Information

No Par Share Count:  0 Capital Amount:  $ 75,000.00

Par Share Count:  75,000.00 Par Share Value:  $ 1.00

 Officers Include Inactive Officers 

 President - ALAN COOPER

Address 1: 
 4532 EAST VILLA THERESA

DR
Address 2:  

City:  PHOENIX State:  AZ

Zip Code:  85032 Country:  

Status:  Active Email:  

 Secretary - ALAN COOPER

Address 1: 
 4532 EAST VILLA THERESA

DR
Address 2:  

City:  PHOENIX State:  AZ

Zip Code:  85032 Country:  

Status:  Active Email:  
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2/3/13 Entity Details - Secretary of State, Nevada

nvsos.gov/sosentitysearch/PrintCorp.aspx?lx8nvq=o9wAXpS7zKVXcR8o3VnvEA%253d%253d 2/2

 Treasurer - ALAN COOPER

Address 1: 
 4532 EAST VILLA THERESA

DR
Address 2:  

City:  PHOENIX State:  AZ

Zip Code:  85032 Country:  

Status:  Active Email:  

 Director - ALAN COOPER

Address 1: 
 4532 EAST VILLA THERESA

DR
Address 2:  

City:  PHOENIX State:  AZ

Zip Code:  85032 Country:  

Status:  Active Email:  

 Actions\Amendments

Action Type:  Articles of Incorporation

Document Number:  20100841806-90 # of Pages:  4

File Date:  11/9/2010 Effective Date:  

Initial Stock Value: Par Value Shares: 75,000 Value: $ 1.00 No Par Value Shares: 0 ----------------------

------------------------------------------- Total Authorized Capital: $ 75,000.00

Action Type:  Initial List

Document Number:  20100868226-35 # of Pages:  1

File Date:  11/17/2010 Effective Date:  

(No notes for this action)

Action Type:  Annual List

Document Number:  20120252442-44 # of Pages:  1

File Date:  4/10/2012 Effective Date:  

(No notes for this action)
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Nameserver Histroy
DB: 53 : Wednesday 30 March 2011 (Old Record)
NS63.DOMAINCONTROL.COM (972893)
NS64.DOMAINCONTROL.COM (970180)
DB: 94 : Thursday 7 June 2012 >>> NOW
No records for this period
Domain may have expired or is not assigned nameservers
 

DNS record history
No DNS record data yet, this domain has been queued for
checking (Should be an hour or so)

NOTISSUES.COM
NOTISSUES.COM : tissues (en) no (en)

---------------------------
Whois on 17-April-2011
Refresh Data

---------------------------

Whois Server Version 2.0

--SI-VSCompRegistrars---

   Domain Name: NOTISSUES.COM

   Registrar: godaddy.com, inc.

   Whois Server: whois.godaddy.com

   Referral URL: http://registrar.godaddy.com

   Name Server: NS63.DOMAINCONTROL.COM

   Name Server: NS64.DOMAINCONTROL.COM

   Status: clientDeleteProhibited

   Status: clientRenewProhibited

   Status: clientTransferProhibited

   Status: clientUpdateProhibited

   Updated Date: 24-mar-2011

   Creation Date: 24-mar-2011

   Expiration Date: 24-mar-2012

$0.99 Domains at Go Daddy
GoDaddy.com

Why Pay More? Compare Us! Free Hosting
w/Site Builder & More.

Search Domain or keyword                  |     Login

Domain Names Web Hosting Email Hosting Website Tools Domain Tools  

Copyright POLO DOMAINS 2011.
Privacy Statement | Terms | Limits | Domain Generator | Domain Reseller | Cheap Domains

POLO DOMAINS - NOTISSUES.COM Domain Name Info http://whois.polodomains.com/domain/ii72DVXyn7vS4xl-7U...

1 of 3 2/18/13 12:25 PM 
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>>> Last update of whois database: Sat, 16 Apr 2011 22:43:37 UTC <<<

--SI-VSNotice---

--SI-VSTerms---

--SI-GDDDisclaimer---

--SI-GDDnotRegistrant---

Registrant:

   Alan Cooper

   4532 E Villa Theresa Dr.

   Phoenix, Arizona 85032

   United States

   Registered through: godaddy.com, inc. (http://www.godaddy.com)

   Domain Name: NOTISSUES.COM

      Created on: 24-Mar-11

      Expires on: 24-Mar-12

      Last Updated on: 24-Mar-11

   Administrative Contact:

      Cooper, Alan  

      4532 E Villa Theresa Dr.

      Phoenix, Arizona 85032

      United States

      4806489301      Fax --

   Technical Contact:

      Cooper, Alan  

      4532 E Villa Theresa Dr.

      Phoenix, Arizona 85032

      United States

      4806489301      Fax --

   Domain servers in listed order:

      NS63.DOMAINCONTROL.COM

      NS64.DOMAINCONTROL.COM

---------------------------

Commenter's name
(Your Name)

POLO DOMAINS - NOTISSUES.COM Domain Name Info http://whois.polodomains.com/domain/ii72DVXyn7vS4xl-7U...

2 of 3 2/18/13 12:25 PM 
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Comment Subject

Comment Body

 Submit

No comments yet.

POLO DOMAINS - NOTISSUES.COM Domain Name Info http://whois.polodomains.com/domain/ii72DVXyn7vS4xl-7U...
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- 1 - 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT 

FOR THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

ST. CLAIR COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

CONSOLIDATED REPLY IN SUPPORT OF JOHN DOES’ MOTIONS TO QUASH 

The oppositions filed in this matter only make it increasingly clear that this case is but the 

latest example of intentional fraud on the Court by the attorneys associated with Prenda Law, Inc.   

(a) Fraud on the Court 

First, it is irrefutable that there are at least two obvious lies contained in plaintiff’s Rule 

224 Petition.  Paragraph 6 of the Petition sates, in no uncertain terms, and not on information and 

belief, that “Venue is proper because at least one of the John Doe Defendants resides in St. Clair 

County, Illinois.  Further, Comcast transacts business in St. Clair County, Illinois.”  Petition ¶ 6.  

As shown by the spreadsheet prepared by Comcast, attached hereto as Exhibit R (table showing IP 

addresses by county)1, this statement, which was verified under penalty of perjury (although by 

whom is anyone’s guess) is 100% false.  According to Comcast’s records, not a single John Doe 

defendant actually resides in St. Clair County.  There is a simple reason for this: Comcast does 

not transact business in St. Clair County—Charter is the franchised cable operator in the area.  

Making a stretch argument to try and find a home for a case in St. Clair County is one thing.  

Resorting to outright fraud to achieve that goal is another.  This is no mere mistake.  Particularly in 

view of all the other suspiciously convenient “mistakes” Prenda appears to have made in this case, 

                                                 
1 The Exhibit lettering used here is continued from the Exhibits to the Declaration of Morgan E. 
Pietz re: Prenda Law, Inc, which filed by Mr. Pietz in connection with his Motion to Quash. 

GUAVA, LLC, 
 
    Petitioner, 

  v. 

COMCAST CABLE COMMUNICATIONS, 
LLC, 

   Respondent. 

 
Case Number: 12-MR-417  

  
Assigned to Honorable Andrew J. Gleeson 
 
 
 
Hearing Date: February 21, 2013 
Hearing Time: 11:00 A.M. 
Hearing Place: Courtroom 404,  
 County Bldg., Belleville, IL 
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and its sordid record of fraud on various other Courts around the country, this Court should see 

past any excuse of mere incompetence and recognize this as an intentional and deliberate fraud.   

Second, beyond the lie used to establish jurisdiction and venue, the entire petition action 

and everything that has flowed from it is all a fraud, because the petition is fraudulently verified.  

More than a month ago, attorney Thomas Leverso, on behalf of a John Doe, filed a Rule 237 

Petition and related Order to Show Cause pointing out the myriad reasons the verification filed in 

this case is not credible.  In response to these very serious allegations that Prenda has filed yet 

another2 fraudulent verification, this time here in this action, Prenda has repeated its usual 

playbook of ignoring the problem for as long as possible, making procedural objections, and then 

trying to explain a fraud as some kind of clerical error.  The verification appears to say “Alan 

Moay,” and as Mr. Leverso noted in his Rule 237 Petition, etc., that is a bogus name; according to 

an investigator using national databases, there is no record of anyone in the United States with 

such a name.  

Prenda’s new story, per its opposition to Mr. Leverso’s Rule Petition, is that the 

verification does not say “Alan Moay,” rather, it says “Alan Mony.”  Opp to Leverson Motion, p. 

5.  First of all, this, too, is false.  The verification very clearly says “Alan Moay.” Prenda has been 

requested to bring the original verification document to the next hearing to settle this argument; 

but if past is prologue, it won’t.  See Exhibit S (post 2/13 meet and confer email chain). 

More importantly though, it now appears that “Alan Mony,” the supposed new name of 

the verifying “client,” is also a bogus name.  The same kind of national database search which 

revealed that there is no “Alan Moay” in the U.S. yields the same results for “Alan Mony”; it’s a 

bogus name; there is no record of any such person.  Exhibit T (investigator report on “Alan 

Mony”).  The closest name anywhere in the U.S. is for an “Allan Mony” with two l’s.  Id. What 

does ring a bell though, as far as Prenda goes, is the name “Allan Mooney.”  A man named “Allan 

Mooney” has previously been listed as the manager of MCGIP, LLC, one of Prenda’s earlier 

                                                 
2 Another example of a fraudulent verification filed by Prenda, supposedly signed by “Alan 
Cooper” was attached as Exhibit L to the Dec’l of Morgan E. Pietz.  That verification, along with 
various copyright assignment agreements also supposedly signed by “Alan Cooper” on behalf of 
Prenda sham entities, is the subject of the scathing Order to Show Cause re: Sanctions from Judge 
Wright of the Central District of California, a copy of which was lodged with this Court at the last 
hearing.  See Ingenuity 13, LLC v. John Doe , C.D. Cal. No. 12-cv-8333, ECF No. 48. 
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mysterious shell company plaintiffs (which Prenda’s lawyers probably own). See Exhibit U, 

(Minnesota Secretary of State business entity detail for MCGIP, LLC.)  According to the 

Minnesota Secretary of State, the official address for MCGIP, LLC is “care of Alpha Law Group,” 

at Alpha law’s office in Minnesota.  Alpha Law Group is the newest firm name being used by John 

Steele’s former (current?) law partner Paul Hansemeier, who is also the brother of Prenda’s current 

preferred technical expert Pete Hansemeier.3  Further, a man using the email address 

“amooney29@gmail.com” is apparently involved in the online adult entertainment business, per an 

Adult Industry News article where Allan Mooney was selling the domain name <orgasms.com>, a 

copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit V.  Finally, one “Alan Mooney” is also a current client 

of Alpha Law / Paul Hansemeier, in Mooney v. Priceline.Com Incorporated et al., No. 12-cv-

02731-DWF-JSM (D. Minn. Oct. 26, 2012).  Exhibit W (Hennepin County, Minnesota, complaint 

listing Paul Hansemeier of Alpha Law Firm LLC as attorney of record for plaintiff “Alan 

Mooney”). 

After Prenda’s newest story was learned by defense counsel the morning of the 2/13 

hearing in this matter,4 Prenda’s past connections to a man named “Allan Mooney” were pointed 

out to Prenda in follow up attempt meet and confer emails.  Specifically, Prenda’s past history with 

“Allan Mooney” was detailed, and all three of Prenda’s lawyers in this case were asked to confirm 

that the new story was that the person who verified the petition spells his name “Alan Mony.”  

Prenda’s response, in its entirety (by way of Mr. Hoerner) was “The issues have already been 

briefed.  See you in court.”  Accordingly, Mr. Hoerner was then advised that since he was the only 

one who had signed the opposition stating that the affiants name is “Alan Mony”5 the defendants 

                                                 
3 For background on how John Setele and Paul Hansemeier’s firm started this scheme as Steele 
Hansemeier, PLLC, but then rebranded as Prenda Law, Inc., refer to the Declaration of Morgan E. 
Pietz re: Prenda Law, Inc., ¶¶ 5–13. 
 
4 This brings up yet another fraud in this case: the proofs of service on Prenda’s oppositions.  
Attorney Morgan Pietz, at least, never received a copy of the opposition that was supposedly 
mailed to him on February 11, 2013.  Just whose name is on that proof of service anyway?  While 
this kind of thing is not usually worth making a fuss over, with Prenda, it is part of a pattern, and, 
unfortunately, completely typical. 
 
5 All of the other oppositions, other than the one where Prenda says the name of the client is really 
“Alan Mony” were signed by Paul Duffy of Chicago.  Presumably, Mr. Hoerner signed the 
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would proceed on the assumption that this spelling was correct, but would seek costs and fees if 

Prenda later decided to try and change its story, given the refusal to meet and confer on the issue. 

As noted in Mr. Pietz’s motion, and supporting declaration, this is not the first time that 

very serious questions have been raised about Prenda using false names to sign to Court 

documents, including verifications and declarations offered under penalty of perjury.  Pietz 

Motion, p. 8; Dec’l. of Morgan E. Pietz re: Prenda Law, Inc., ¶¶ 29–42.  In fact, this is not even the 

first time that Prenda, after being accused of fraud on the Court, has responded to that fraud with 

more fraud; an example which also involved Prenda’s misspelling of the name of the supposed 

affiant.  In Sunlust Pictures, LLC v. Nguyen, M.D. Fl. No. 12-cv-1685, Prenda attempted to 

perpetrate another fraud on the Court (holding out John Steele’s former paralegal as a “principal” 

of Sunlust Pictures), all as stated in the hearing transcript attached as Exhibit N to the Dec’l. of 

Morgan E. Pietz re: Prenda Law, Inc.  In an attempt to explain that fraud, Prenda ended up 

submitting a fraudulent declaration, where the person signing it supposedly misspelled his own 

name on the signature line.  The true principal of Sunlust is named Daniel Weber; but the first 

declaration which he supposedly signed, and which Prenda filed in their response to the sanctions 

motion spelled it “Webber” with to b’s.  The first declaration was also full of other lies (i.e., that 

Weber was out of the US during the hearing he had been ordered to attend), which defense counsel 

there immediately pointed out.  Eventually, actual Daniel Weber did file a corrected declaration 

attempting to explain away his (attorney’s) lies in the previous declaration.  The fraudulent first 

declaration, which attempted to explain the fraud on the court, is now the subject of a second 

sanctions motion. Sunlust Pictures, LLC v. Nguyen, M.D. Fl. No. 12-cv-1685 (ECF No. 46, 

12/31/13) attached hereto as Exhibit X. 

(b) Merits of Movants’ Objections to Plaintiff’s Rule 224 Petition 

Plaintiff’s oppositions have no retort to the argument, made by Mr. Pietz in his motion to 

quash, that use of a Rule 224 petition here is unnecessary because the plaintiffs are already 

sufficiently identified (by I.P. address) that they can be sued for damages without resort to Rule 

                                                                                                                                                                
opposition (to Mr. Leverso’s motion) containing the name “Alan Mony” so that Prenda can 
pretend there was some transcription error on the spelling over the phone, to explain why it is that 
Prenda has misspelled the name of the purported verifying client for a second time in this case, 
after being accused of fraud on that issue. 

Supplemental Exhibits - Page 97

Case 2:12-cv-08333-ODW-JC   Document 53-1   Filed 02/20/13   Page 97 of 130   Page ID
 #:873



 

- 5 - 

224 discovery. On its face, Rule 224 is narrowly limited to situations where discovery is 

“necessary,” and Gaynor v. Burlington Northern and Santa Fe Railway, 750 N.E.2d 307 (2001) 

clarifies that if a plaintiff has enough information already to sue for damages, Rule 224 discovery 

should be denied.  Here, as in Gaynor, the existence of a parallel action for damages (here, the 

Lightspeed case) conclusively proves that Rule 224 discovery is not a “condition precedent” to 

filing a complaint for damages.  Even if we accept plaintiff’s dubious representation  that Guava, 

LLC has “has no corporate or other relation” to Lightspeed Media Corporation (Opp. to Leverso 

Motion, p. 1), it does not matter.  Regardless of whether Lighspeed and Guava are the same entity 

or not, the bottom line is that Prenda has already proven conclusively, through the Lightspeed case, 

that in its view, Prenda can file a complaint against a single John Doe defendant, identified only by 

IP address, and then make its case using the regular discovery provisions of Rule 201.  If suing a 

John Doe identified by solely by IP address for damages was sufficient for Prenda in Lightspeed, 

why is Rule 224 discovery now suddenly a “condition precedent” to filing the exact same kind of 

suit here now?  Prenda has filed hundreds of complaints for damages, based on an IP address 

alone; its new position that it now believes Rule 224 discovery is required before it can file such 

complaints is another misrepresentation made in bad faith. 

Movants cited chapter and verse, black letter law, that when considering a Rule 224 

Petition, the Court should apply a Section 2-615 analysis to the claims at issue.  See, e.g., Pietz 

Motion, pp. 9.  Having established that proposition, movants then cited a slew of CFAA cases6 all 

of which clearly establish that plaintiff’s claims do not pass muster under a Section 2-615 analysis.  

See, e.g., Pietz Motion, pp. 16–20.  Plaintiff responded to this array of authority in its opposition 

with a bit of a curveball.  Rather than argue that the allegations in the Petition state a valid claim 

under the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, plaintiff instead premises its argument on the notion 

that a Section 2-615 analysis of the underlying claim is not required in a Rule 224 petition action.  

Simply put, plaintiff needs to (re?)-read the many cases cited by movants which establish this point 

as black letter law.  The closest plaintiff comes to a coherent argument on this issue is the 

observation that many of the Rule 224 cases cited by movants involved underlying claims for 
                                                 
6 No cases were needed on the Computer Tampering claim; the relief sought here is barred on the 
face of the statute itself, since there are no allegations of a virus or malware.  See Pietz Motion, pp. 
19–20. 
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defamation, rather than underlying claims for CFAA or Computer Tampering violations.  So what? 

The point of general standards for analysis is that they can be used in different circumstances.  

Whatever the underlying claim at issue, the law is clear that the applicable analysis that should be 

applied to Rule 224 petitions is a Rule 2-615 analysis.  Plaintiffs are correct to note that “illegal 

hacking is not protected by the First Amendment;” however, neither, for that matter, is defamation 

protected by the First Amendment.  Plaintiff’s entire argument on the Section 2-615 analysis 

makes no sense and should be viewed as a tacit admission that the allegations in the Petition, if 

true, could not state a causes of action for CFAA or Computer Tampering. 

One argument plaintiff does engage with in the oppositions is movants point that the 

petition is overbroad insofar as it requests phone numbers, emails and MAC addresses.  As argued 

in Mr. Pietz’s motion, Rule 224 petitions are limited to information needed to identify defendants, 

and in most cases, a name and address is sufficient for that purpose.  Here, plaintiff wants the 

phone numbers, emails and MAC addresses not to identify potential defendants, but because it 

wants to hold Internet subscribers responsible for infringement.7  But Rule 224 does not permit 

discovery to reach blame or liability; it is limited to identification of a potential defendant.  

Movants cite cases standing for the proposition that this means a name and address, no more.  

Plaintiff cites no authority suggesting that phone numbers, emails, or MAC addresses are 

appropriate information for a Rule 224 Petition, and there is none. 

(c) Response to Plaintiff’s Counter Arguments in the Oppositions 

Plaintiff’s main responsive counter-argument is that movants supposedly do not have 

standing to challenge a subpoena seeking their identifying information.  First, this argument 

ignores this Court’s December 12, 2012 order, which explicitly grants ISP subscribers like 

movants an opportunity to object this petition action.  Second, Rule 224, on its face, provides for a 

required hearing.  Third, this Court was correct to invite movants to object, because movants 

absolutely do have standing to object to the release of their identifying information to a litigant 

engaged in a fraudulent, extortionate enterprise.  Even if plaintiffs were acting in good faith, and 

this entire action was not predicated on various frauds, movants would still have standing to object 

                                                 
7 See also the copy of the Guava, LLC extortion letter being used in this case, which was lodged 
with the Court at the 2/13 hearing. 
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to the release of their information.  As expounded in further detail in Mr. Leverso’s motion (pp. 2-

5), movants here do have standing to object. The court need only look at essentially any reported 

appellate case on Rule 224 petitions ever decided to verify this proposition; the challenging party 

is almost always the third party about whom information is being sought (i.e., the real party in 

interest), not the respondent with the records.  Like a subpoena, the Rule 224 petition, seeks to 

infringe upon movants legitimate interests to be free of oppression, embarrassment, or undue 

burden. See Bush v. Catholic Diocese, 351 Ill.App.3d 588, 591, 814 N.E.2d 135 (3d Dist. 2004); 

United States v. Ranieri, 670 F .2d 702,772 (7th Cir. l982) accord Special Mkts. Ins. Consultants, 

Inc. v. Lynch, Case No. 11 C 9181, 2012 WLl565348 (N.D. Ill. May 2, 2012). 

Plaintiff’s other featured argument, that movants do not have “approval to proceed 

anonymously,” is a complete red herring.  As the court rightly noted at the February 13, 2013 

hearing with respect to the in pro per litigant in attendance, the main issue being litigated right 

now is whether the Movants should be identified to the plaintiff. The time to brief the issue 

anonymous participation in judicial proceedings, and the potential limited use of a “John Doe” 

pseudonym for purposes of the public docket, is after the court determines whether Movants 

should be identified in the first place and if these people are actually sude for damages.  Either the 

Court is going to deny the petition so that no information is disclosed, or it is going to order that 

Comcast identify the Movants to the plaintiff.  Plaintiff’s position that ‘in order to object to 

plaintiff’s subpoena seeking to identify you, you need to first identify yourself to the plaintiff’ is 

plainly a Catch 22 that makes no sense.  

Most of the balance of plaintiff’s oppositions amount to little more than personal attacks on 

certain of the defense attorneys involved in this action.  With respect to the attacks on Mr. Pietz, 

Judge Wright’s order from the Central District of California, relating to a series of related cases 

where Mr. Pietz was very involved, speaks for itself. Ingenuity 13, LLC v. John Doe , C.D. Cal. 

No. 12-cv-8333, ECF No. 48 (copy lodged with the Court at the 2/13 hearing).  Since that order 

has been issued, Paul Duffy (counsel here) and Prenda Law have more or less dismissed all 

Ingenuity 13 and AF Holdings cases in California, and most of them across the country—which 

could perhaps be viewed as a tacit admission that all of Prenda’s AF Holdings and Ingenuity 13 

Supplemental Exhibits - Page 100

Case 2:12-cv-08333-ODW-JC   Document 53-1   Filed 02/20/13   Page 100 of 130   Page ID
 #:876



 

- 8 - 

cases were also fraudulent upon inception—just like the fraudulently verified petition full of lies 

about venue and jurisdiction currently before this Court. 

Finally, the extortion letter from Brett Gibbs,8 as “in house counsel for Guava, LLC,” 

clarifies what the movants have suspected all along: that this case is not really a ‘password 

hacking’ CFAA case, but a BitTorrent copyright infringement case in disguise.  Mr. Gibbs’ letter 

makes clear that really, the gravamen of the complaint against the John Does is not that they 

breached a computer network; its that they engaged in file-sharing on BitTorrent (which is 

possibly copyright infringement, but not computer fraud).  This only lends further support to the 

notion that this whole suit is a transparent attempt to abuse this Court’s jurisdiction, and the Rule 

224 process, to seek the kind of discovery that Prenda is now routinely denied in copyright 

infringement cases in federal court.  Again, Prenda has told the Court one thing—i.e., that it wants 

to sue people under the CFAA—but then done another—i.e., try and then use the subpoena return 

info to bring claims for copyright infringement.  

(d) Conclusion 

The kind of abuse Prenda Law is up to—lying about jurisdiction and venue, systemic filing 

of bogus verifications and other documents, filing claims that cannot withstand even basic legal 

scrutiny, pressuring people to “settle” when it knows many such people are probably totally 

innocent—undermine the very integrity of the legal system.  These missteps are not mistakes.  

They are part of a calculated scheme that, even without all of the fraud, comes very close to 

extortion.  However, the Declaration of Morgan E. Pietz makes clear that his case is part of a 

systemic, calculated national conspiracy, which (particularly if Alan Cooper’s allegations of 

identity theft prove true) may very well be a criminal enterprise.  Accordingly, movants 

respectfully request that this court follow Judge Wright’s lead, and come down on Prenda Law like 

a ton of bricks.  Prenda’s various frauds on various courts—including this one—have gone on for 

long enough.  The Rule 224 subpoena should be denied as to the movants, and the next and final 

issue the Court should then consider is awarding sanctions and attorneys fees. 

 As of 12:00 noon PST on Friday February 15, 2013, undersigned counsel is authorized to 

report that in addition to Mr. Pietz’s clients with IP address numbers 71.229.73.180 and 

                                                 
8 This letter is the second document lodged with the Court at the February 13, 2013 hearing. 
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67.162.81.65; attorney Thomas Leverso, on behalf of his client with I.P. address number 

68.58.68.84; attorney Earl Hubbs, on behalf of his client with IP address number 24.14.130.85; 

and attorney Holly A. Reese on behalf of her client with IP address number 79.29.36.240; all join 

in this consolidated reply. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

DATED: February 15, 2013, 

 
_____________________________________  

Morgan E. Pietz (CA Bar No. 260629)* 
THE PIETZ LAW FIRM 
3770 Highland Ave., Ste. 206 
Manhattan Beach, CA 90266 
Telephone:  (310) 424-5557 
Facsimile : (310) 546-5301 
* Pro Hac Vice 
Attorney for Movants 

 

 
Laura K. Beasley (IL Bar No. 6274537) 
JOLEY, NUSSBAUMER, OLIVER, 

 DICKERSON & BEASLEY, P.C. 
8 East Washington Street 
Belleville, Illinois 62220 
Tel: (618) 235-2020 
Fax: (618) 235-9632 
Local Counsel for Movants 

 

 

CERTIFICATE/PROOF OF SERVICE 
  
On this day, I, on oath, state that I on this day I served this notice and true and accurate copies of 
the above documents by personal service and/or mailing copies to each entity to whom they were 
directed by depositing the same in the U.S. Mail, proper postage prepaid in full, at a U.S. Postal 
Depository on this day before the hour of 4:00 p.m. 

 

Dated: February 15, 2013 _________________________________ 

Morgan E. Pietz (CA Bar No. 260629)* 
THE PIETZ LAW FIRM 
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SERVICE LIST 
 
  
Kevin T. Hoerner 
BECKER, PAULSON, HOERNER & 
THOMPSON, P.C. 
5111 West Main Street 
Belleville, IL 62226 
 
Paul Duffy 
PRENDA LAW, INC. 
2 North LaSalle Street, 13th Floor 
Chicago, IL 60602 
 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
 
Comcast Cable Communications, LLC 
c/o Subpoena Response Team 
650 Centerton Road 
Moorestown, NJ 08057 
 
In-House Legal For Respondent 
 
John D. Siever 
DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE 
1919 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Suite 800 
Washington, DC 20006-3401 
 
Outside Counsel for Respondent 
 
Andrew Toennies 
714 Locust Street 
St. Louis, MO 63101 
  
Local Counsel for Respondent 

Laura K. Beasley (IL Bar No. 6274537) 
JOLEY, NUSSBAUMER, OLIVER, 
& BEASLEY, P.C. 
8 East Washington Street 
Belleville, Illinois 62220 
 
Thomas V. Leverso 
LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS V. LEVERSO 
33 West Higgins Road, Suite 3080 
South Barrington, IL 6001 
 
Erin K. Russell 
THE RUSSELL FIRM 
23 South Wacker Drive, 84th Floor 
Chicago, IL 60606 
 
Earl Hubbs 
RICK REED 
6464 West Main, Suite 1B 
Belleville, IL 62223 
 
Annie Bode Callahan 
SMITH AMUNDSEN 
12312 Olive Boulevard, Suite 100 
St. Louis, MO 63141 
 
Holly A. Reese 
GOLDENBERG HELLER ANTOGNOLI & 
ROWAND, P.C. 
2227 South State Route 157 
P.O. Box 959 
Edwardsville, Illinois 62025 
 
Attorneys for ISP Subscribers 
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TICKET # IP ADDRESS CUSTOMER CITY CUSTOMER COUNTY CUSTOMER STATE
431809
431810

173.9.253.149
23.25.47.84
24.1.107.63

PEOTONE
ROSELLE

WILL
DUPAGE, COOK

IL
IL

431811 EVANSTON COOK IL
431812 24.1.191.211 CHICAGO COOK IL
431813 24.1.141.155

24.1.175.233
24.1.75.199

SPRINGFIELD SANGAMON IL
431814 CHICAGO COOK
431815 DECATUR MACON IL
431816 24.12.113.158 MOUNT PROSPECT COOK IL
431817 24.1.95.156 CHICAGO COOK IL
431818 24.1.98.146 CHICAGO COOK IL
431819 24.12.116.87 CHICAGO COOK IL
431820 24.12.160.43 BUFFALO GROVE COOK I L
431821 24.12.160.5 ROLLING MEADOWS COOK IL
431822 24.12.17.76 CHICAGO COOK IL
431824 24.12.235.189 LIBERTYVILLE LAKE IL
431825 24.12.215.82 EVANSTON COOK IL
431826 24.12.255.78 CHICAGO COOK IL
431827 24.12.30.72 AURORA KANE, DUPAGE, ETC IL
431828 24.12.9.239 CHICAGO COOK IL
431829 24.13.103.83 CHICAGO COOK IL
431830 24.13.118.250 CHICAGO COOK IL
431831 24.13.137.179 CHICAGO COOK IL
431832 24.13.161.156 SCHAUMBURG DUPAGE IL
431834 24.13.172.38 ARLINGTON HEIGHTS COOK, LAKE IL
431835 24.13.178.197

24.13.187.100
24.13.235.108

SCHAUMBURG
GLENDALE HEIGHTS
HIGHLAND PARK

DUPAGE IL
431836 DUPAGE
431837 LAKE IL
431838 24.13.59.132 CHICAGO COOK IL
431839 24.14.103.125 CHICAGO COOK IL
431840 24.14.116.211 DEKALB DEKALB IL
431841 24.14.122.52 BENSENVILLE DUPAGE IL
431842 24.14.13.193 MUNDELEIN LAKE IL
431845 24.14.130.85 CHICAGO COOK IL
431846 24.14.162.27 NORRIDGE COOK IL
431847 24.14.168.183

24.14.175.98
24.14.188.2

CHICAGO COOK IL
431848 TINLEY PARK COOK
431849 GLEN ELLYN DUPAGE IL
431850 24.14.191.2 GLEN ELLYN DUPAGE IL
431851 24.14.191.209 GLEN ELLYN DUPAGE IL
431852 24.14.211.234 NEW LENOX WILL IL
431853 24.14.22.26 ADDISON DUPAGE IL
431854 24.14.226.226 NEW LENOX WILL IL
431855 24.14.50.22 OAK PARK COOK IL
431856 24.15.0.234 WILLOWBROOK DUPAGE IL
431857 24.15.108.237 CREST HILL WILL IL
431858 24.15.188.130 DOWNERS GROVE DUPAGE IL
431859 24.15.194.37 DEERFIELD LAKE IL
431860 24.15.21.54 BELLWOOD COOK IL
431861 24.15.225.33 MUNDELEIN COOK IL
431862 24.15.29.44 CHAMPAIGN CHAMPAIGN IL
431863 24.15.48.154 OAK PARK COOK IL
431864 24.15.94.96 LOCKPORT WILL IL
431865 24.63.77.213 CHESTNUT HILL MIDDLESEX MA
431866 24.7.197.117 CHAMPAIGN CHAMPAIGN IL
431867 24.7.199.112 CHAMPAIGN CHAMPAIGN IL
431868 24.7.214.221 WESTMONT DUPAGE IL
431869 50.129.14.36 CHICAGO COOK IL
431870 50.129.252.207 CHICAGO COOK IL
431871 50.129.68.62 ROCKFORD WINNEBAGO IL
431872 50.129.69.141

50.129.92.32
MACHESNEY PARK
DEKALB

WINNEBAGO IL
431873 DEKALB IL
431874 50.140.131.57 ADDISON DUPAGE IL

HIGHLIGHT = GEO-CODED RESULTS ONLY
ALL OTHERS FROM ACCOUNT RECORDS
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Morgan Pietz <morganpietz@gmail.com>

Urgent M&C Request on Guava v. Comcast - St. Clair County 12-MR-417

Morgan E. Pietz <mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com> Thu, Feb 14, 2013 at 9:15 AM
To: Kevin Hoerner <kth@bphlaw.com>
Cc: "paduffy@wefightpiracy.com" <paduffy@wefightpiracy.com>, "johnlsteele@gmail.com"
<johnlsteele@gmail.com>, "jlsteele@wefightpiracy.com" <jlsteele@wefightpiracy.com>,
"lbeasley@ilmoattorneys.com" <lbeasley@ilmoattorneys.com>, "Thomas V. Leverso" <tvleverso@gmail.com>,
Erin Russell <erin@russellfirmchicago.com>, "John D. Seiver" <johnseiver@dwt.com>,
"atoennies@lashlybaer.com" <atoennies@lashlybaer.com>, "holly@ghalaw.com" <holly@ghalaw.com>,
"acallahan@sakawys.com" <acallahan@sakawys.com>

Thanks, Kevin.  Just to be clear then, you signed the pleading, and you are now re-confirming that it was
correct: the person who verified the petition in this action is named "Alan Mony." 

We will proceed on that basis then.

If you change your story later, after refusing to meet and confer on this now, I am going to have to no choice
but to seek attorneys' fees.

Best regards,
Morgan

On Thu, Feb 14, 2013 at 8:32 AM, Kevin Hoerner <kth@bphlaw.com> wrote:

The issues have already been briefed.  See you in court.

 

Kevin T. Hoerner

Attorney at Law

Becker, Paulson, Hoerner & Thompson, P.C.

5111 West Main Street

Belleville, Illinois 62226

Phone: 618.235.0020

From: morganpietz@gmail.com [mailto:morganpietz@gmail.com] On Behalf Of Morgan E. Pietz
Sent: Thursday, February 14, 2013 10:29 AM
To: paduffy@wefightpiracy.com; Kevin Hoerner; johnlsteele@gmail.com; jlsteele@wefightpiracy.com
Cc: lbeasley@ilmoattorneys.com; Thomas V. Leverso; Erin Russell; John D. Seiver;
atoennies@lashlybaer.com; holly@ghalaw.com; acallahan@sakawys.com

Subject: Urgent M&C Request on Guava v. Comcast - St. Clair County 12-MR-417

Gmail - Urgent M&C Request on Guava v. Comcast - St. Clair... https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=5e8233d0c6&view...

1 of 4 2/15/13 11:36 AM 
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John, Paul, and Kevin,

 

In the interest of advancing the issues in this case, and ensuring that we don’t have any more surprises at
the hearing next week, I’d like to meet and confer with you on an important new issue in this case,
stemming from your oppositions, on an expedited basis.

 

In Court yesterday, I asked Kevin if “Alan Moay” actually exists.  That may seem like an unusual question to
ask, but as you know, my experience with the mysterious “Alan Cooper” involved in your other lawsuits has
conditioned me to be skeptical.

 

Kevin told me that someone did verify the petition in this case, but that there may have been some kind of
typo on the name, but that he was not sure on the details.

 

Having now reviewed your opposition to Tom Leverso’s motion (p. 5), I see that the new story is that the
verification supposedly says “Alan Mony” not “Alan Moay.”  The verification sure looks like “Alan Moay” to
me.  Since it appears there may be a factual dispute about that point, I would ask you to bring the original
with you to Court next week.

 

More importantly, the name “Alan Mony” rings a bell.  I note that a man named “Allan Mooney” has
previously been listed as the manager of MCGIP, LLC, one of Prenda’s earlier shell company plaintiffs.  I
further note that the address for MCGIP, LLC is “care of” Alpha Law Group, the most recent affiliation for
John’s former (current?) law partner Paul Hansemeier, who is also the brother of Prenda’s current preferred
technical expert Pete Hansemeier.  See the attached Minnesota Secretary of State business entity detail for
MCGIP, LLC.  Further, I note that a man with the name “Allen Mooney” is apparently involved in the online
adult entertainment business, per the attached Adult Industry News article where Allan Mooney was selling
the domain name <orgasms.com>.  Finally, I note that one “Alan Mooney” is also a current client of Alpha
Law / Paul Hansemeier, in Mooney v. Priceline.Com Incorporated et al., No. 12-cv-02731-DWF-JSM (D.
Minn. Oct. 26, 2012) (listing Paul Hansemeier of Alpha Law Firm LLC as attorney of record for plaintiff
“Alan Mooney”).  See the attached copy of the original Hennepin County complaint in that matter.

 

I further note that this is not the fist time there have been questions about Prenda submitting bogus
verifications (see Alan Cooper).  For that matter, it is not the first time a supposed Prenda “client” has
supposedly had trouble spelling their own name correctly on the signature line of a document where they
swore to tell the truth under penalty of perjury (see Daniel Web[b]er in the Sunlust case, where I
understand that the sanctions motions for both the initial fraud on the Court, and the subsequent fraudulent
declaration trying to explain the first fraud, are still pending).

 

I note that unlike the other oppositions I received, which were supposedly signed by Paul Duffy, that in the
opposition to Mr. Leverso’s motion, which was the only one communicating the supposed new spelling for
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your verifying client “Alan Mony”, Kevin Hoerner signed, rather than counsel from Chicago.  Perhaps this is
to maintain plausible deniability so that when it turns out the person's name is really “Allan Mooney” you
can blame it on a miscommunication over the phone?  All of this just seems like a ploy to try and explain
away that there are too many letters for “Allan Mooney” to be mistaken for “Alan Moay.”

 

I would really like to believe that this case is not also a fraud, and that you are not attempting to cover up
one lie with another (again).  But like I said, experience has taught me to be skeptical where Prenda is
concerned.

 

So, in light of all these facts, and in order to give you an opportunity, in good faith, to explain yourself prior
to the hearing, I have two questions:

 

(1) What is the correct spelling of the name of the person who verified the petition, what is that person’s
address, and are "Allen Mooney" of MCGIP fame, and "Alan Moay/Mony" the verifying "client" here, the
same person?

 

(2) Since you repeatedly note in the oppositions that your verification is legitimate because it is notarized,
what is the name, state, registration number, and business address for the notary who supposedly
witnessed Mr. Al[l]an Moay/Mony/Mooney sign the verification?

 

Note that these good faith meet and confer questions are separate and apart from the issue of whether it is
appropriate for Tom to use a Rule 237 and OSC procedure to compel you to produce the affiant and notary
to testify at an evidentiary hearing.  For sure, we will get to that at the hearing next week.

 

I would like to incorporate and address your response on these questions into a combined reply, as
courtesy to the Court.  In order to give the Judge time to read everything, I plan to file the reply on Friday. 
Accordingly, I must insist that you get back to me by tonight (2/14). If this case is not a fraud, then you
should have no problem providing this information, since I assume it must be readily at hand.  And then just
bring the original verification with you next week.

 

Please feel free to give me a call if you’d like to discuss.

 

Best regards,

Morgan 

 

On Thu, Feb 7, 2013 at 2:33 PM, Morgan E. Pietz <mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com> wrote:
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Paul,

As you know, since I served you with a copy, I filed a motion to quash in this case.

I have not seen any kind of a response to my motion, or to any of the other similar motions filed by the other attorneys
representing other Does.  Did you file a response?  If you did, or if you are still planning on doing so, please make
sure you serve me with a copy ASAP.

Best regards,
Morgan

P.S. Note that I could not find an email address for Earl Hubbs, who I understand is also counsel for another objecting
John Doe.  If anyone else has it, please forward this correspondence to him.

--

Morgan E. Pietz
THE PIETZ LAW FIRM
3770 Highland Ave., Ste. 206
Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com
Ph: (310) 424-5557
Fx: (310) 546-5301
www.pietzlawfirm.com

--

Morgan E. Pietz
THE PIETZ LAW FIRM
3770 Highland Ave., Ste. 206
Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com
Ph: (310) 424-5557
Fx: (310) 546-5301
www.pietzlawfirm.com

--

Morgan E. Pietz
THE PIETZ LAW FIRM
3770 Highland Ave., Ste. 206
Manhattan Beach, CA 90266
mpietz@pietzlawfirm.com
Ph: (310) 424-5557
Fx: (310) 546-5301
www.pietzlawfirm.com
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